IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01707-COA

ERIC LAVON ROBERTS

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

VS.

.

i

1 .

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Vaterria M. Martin (MB No. Attorney At Law 5709 Highway 80 West Jackson, Mississippi 39209 Telephone: (601) 923-1577 Facsimile: (601) 923-1579 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01707-COA

ERIC LAVON ROBERTS

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest

Statement of the Case
Statement of Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument
I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS
II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO TESTIFY
III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AND IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL
IV. THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL
V. CUMULATIVE ERRORS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

¢

Į.

• •

.

,

,

ι.

i

ł

;

5 ---

•

<u>CASES</u> <u>PAGES</u>
<u>Anderson v. State,</u> 749 So.2d 283 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
<u>Billiot v. State,</u> 454 So.2d 445 (Miss. 1984)
<u>Chase v. State,</u> 645 So.2d 829 (Miss. 1994)
<u>Conners v. State,</u> 822 So.2d 290 (Miss. 2001)
<u>Cortez v. State,</u> 876 So.2d 1026 (Miss. 2004)
<u>Dancer v. State,</u> 721 So.2d 583 (Miss. 1998)
<u>Dora v. State,</u> 986 So.2d 917 (Miss. 2008)
<u>Forkner v. State</u> , 902 So.2d 615 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 12
<u>Genry v. State,</u> 735 So.2d 186 (Miss. 1999) 19
<u>Gideon v. Wainwright,</u> 372 U.S. 335 (1963) 16
<u>Glasper v. State</u> , 914 So.2d 708 (Miss. 2005)
<u>Gleeton v. State,</u> 716 So.2d 1083 (Miss. 1998)
<u>Hansen v. State,</u> 592 So.2d 114 (Miss. 1991)
<u>Hiter v. State,</u> 660 So.2d 961 (Miss. 1995)

<u>Hunter v. State,</u> 684 So.2d 625 (Miss. 1996)
<u>Jenkins v. State,</u> 607 So.2d 1171 (Miss. 1992)
Laney v. State, 486 So.2d 1242 (Miss. 1986)
<u>Lias v. State,</u> 362 So.2d 198 (Miss. 1978)
Luckett v. State, 797 So.2d 339 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
<u>Manix v. State,</u> 895 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2005)
<u>McClain v. State,</u> 625 So.2d 774 (Miss. 1993)
<u>McFee v. State,</u> 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987)
<u>Miranda v. Arizona,</u> 384 U.S. 436 (1966)
<u>Mohr v. State,</u> 584 So.2d 426 (Miss. 1991)
<u>Morgan v. State,</u> 681 So.2d 82 (Miss. 1996)
<u>Read v. State,</u> 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)
<u>Sheppard v. State,</u> 777 So.2d 659 (Miss. 2000)
<u>Shook v. State,</u> 552 So.2d 841 (Miss. 1989)
<u>Stewart v. State,</u> 299 So.2d 53 (Miss. 1969)

•

÷

ł

<u>Strickland v. Washington,</u> 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
<u>Stringer v. State</u> , 454 So.2d 468 (Miss. 1984)
Tolbert v. State,
511 So.2d 1368 (Miss. 1987)
Woodward v. State,
843 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2003)
Wright v. State,
958 So.2d 158 (Miss. 2007)
<u>STATUTES</u>
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-17-23 (Rev. 2000)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States
Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States
Mississippi Constitution of 1890, Art. 3, § 26 13, 16

•

L

÷

۲

ŧ

к т

,

.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO TESTIFY.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AND IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.
- IV. WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL.
- V. WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERRORS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about May 25, 2007, Eric Lavon Roberts (hereinafter referred to as "Roberts") was indicted by the Forrest County Grand Jury. (R. at 8). The indictment charged Roberts with the unlawful, willful and felonious burglary of the dwelling house of one LaDonna Ellis, pursuant to § 97-17-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. Id. The case was tried on or about August 27, 2008, and the jury found Roberts guilty of burglary of a dwelling. (Tr. at 256). Prior to sentencing on August 27, 2008, counsel for Roberts requested that the lower Court defer sentencing to allow Roberts to receive treatment for his mental illness or to at least have a pre-sentence Roberts underwent treatment and evaluation for paranoid evaluation. (Tr. at 257-261). schizophrenia in 1999 and 2000. (Tr. at 264). However, the relevant medical records and mention of this mental illness were not presented to the lower Court until the sentencing phase, and were therefore, found to be of no benefit to the Court at that time. (Tr. at 260-264). On or about August 28, 2008, the lower court proceeded to sentence Roberts to twenty-five (25) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with twenty (20) years to serve, and the remaining five (5) years to be suspended on post-release supervision. (Tr. at 265). Roberts was also ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$5,000.00 and all cost of court. Id.

On or about September 8, 2008, Roberts filed his Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial. (R. at 57-59). On the same date, the lower Court entered its Order denying that Motion. (R. at 60). Roberts filed his Notice of Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on or about October 7, 2008. (R. at 63).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about February 2, 2007, Detective Michael Hall of the Hattiesburg Police Department received a call of a burglary in progress at an apartment complex on Ross Boulevard. (Tr. at 25-26). At that time, Detective Hall was with the patrol division of the Hattiesburg Police Department. (Tr. at 25). Detective Hall testified during the Pre-trial Motion Hearing held in this matter on August 25, 2008, that at the time of the aforementioned call, he was given the description of a black male wearing a blue hoodie. Id. After arriving at the scene, he observed a black male, now known to be Roberts, walking out of the parking lot of the apartment complex where the alleged burglary in progress was called in. (Tr. at 26). Detective Hall further testified that he directed Roberts to approach him, and he asked Roberts to state his name and where he was headed at the time. Id. After Roberts replied that he was leaving McDonald's, Detective Hall pat Roberts down, found a knife in Roberts' pants pocket, and placed Roberts into custody in the back of Detective Hall's patrol car. (Tr. at 27). Although Roberts had been determined to be a suspect and had been placed into custody, Detective Hall had not advised Roberts of his Miranda rights at that time. (Tr. at 32). It was not until Roberts was seated in Detective Hall's patrol car and stated that he had come out of this female's room, but realized that he forgot his phone, and returned to the room to get the phone, that Detective Hall then advised Roberts of his rights. (Tr. at 27).

After arriving at the police station, Detective Jon Douglas Traxler interviewed Roberts. (Tr. at 5). During the Pre-trial Motion Hearing on August 25, 2008, Detective Traxler testified that he was informed by Roberts that he had a college level of education. <u>Id</u>. Detective Traxler advised Roberts of his <u>Miranda</u> rights prior to interviewing him. <u>Id</u>. Detective Traxler further testified that Roberts signed the <u>Miranda</u> warning, as well as the Waiver of Rights. <u>Id</u>. The Waiver was not witnessed by anyone other than Detective Traxler. <u>Id</u>. Detective Traxler then gave Roberts a blank

L

form, in which Detective Traxler wrote that he was speaking with Roberts in reference to a residential burglary that occurred at 105 Ross Boulevard. (Tr. at 9). The following statement was

written by Roberts and read into evidence by Detective Traxler at the Pre-trial hearing:

The individual at a party ask (sic) me to walk a girl home from the little party. I walked her home. I overheard her talking over the phone or to the roommate, so I walk (sic) out to Ross Street and officers were there! They informed me that something had happened that I wasn't authorized to control "on my own," so I cooperated with the officers!

I walk (sic) someone home but I was not wearing or fit the description the (sic) said, (sic) it (sic) may have been a totally different place, but I had been drinken (sic), but not driven (sic) after the party!

(Tr. at 9, 10 and Exhibit 2 to the Motion Hearing).

Detective Traxler then testified that he asked Roberts a series of questions, which are also in

the statement as follows:

į.

i

ί.

- Q. Do you know anyone that lives at 105 Ross Blvd?
- A. On my way to Quiznos (sic), so I stopped at the the (sic) party, but I didn't know anyone personally!
- Q. Do you know the name the of the girl you walked home?
- A. Don't know her name (sic) I was drinking, (sic) she may have been drinking!
- Q. Do you know what apt. she lives in ?
- A. I dont (sic) know the apt. number, because we was (sic) walking and being loud!
- Q. Do you remember what she was wearing?
- A. I cant (sic) exactly remember what she was wearing! Was talking & being loud!

- Q. How many people were with you when you walked her home?
- A. It started out as me, and 2 girls! One went to an apt. and the othe (sic) went to another!
- Q. Do you know the other girls (sic) name and what she was wearing?
- A. No

.

1

ł

£

1 .

Ł

4

į

÷

- Q. Do you know what her apt # is?
- A. No sir
- Q. Did one of the girls ask you to come in her apt (sic)?
- A. No, but one informed me that their (sic) were blankets an (sic) you could sleep on the floor (sic)
- Q. How did you go in the apt (sic)?
- A. I walk (sic) through a door "drunk" with the next male's so called girlfriend!
- Q. What do you mean the next male's so called girlfriend?
- A. Not meaning the word "drunk"! but (sic) she possibly could have been involved in an (sic) relationship because she told me she had blankets!
- Q. What did she do when she went in the apt (sic)?
- A. She was quite (sic), (sic) I (sic) just left, (sic) I realize (sic) my phone was drrop (sic) on the floor with blankets. Went back their (sic) got (sic) the phone off the floor. Lock (sic) them in by twisting the knob and the (sic) I talk (sic) to officers! When she went into the apt! (sic)

After telling me there were blankets, she went into the back room!

Q. Did you go in her bedroom?

ţ

ı.

i

i

.

ŧ

ε.

i.

Ł,

- A. Whe (sic) I left, ! (sic) I didn't go into the bedroom (sic) I yelled, Im (sic) leaving, (sic)
- Q. Did you go in the kitchen?
- A. I'm unsure where the kitchen is! But no.
- Q. Did you lock the door when you left?
- A. After I walked back and yelled where is my phone (sic) I lock (sic) the door behind me!
- Q. Was there anyone else in the apt (sic)?
- A. I'm not sure!
- Q. What is your address?
- A. P. O. Box 1063, 3703 Mable Ave. (sic) Hattiesburg (sic) MS!
- Q. Is that a house or apt (sic)?
- A. House with 2 sides!
- Q. Have you changed clothes since you left home?
- A. No! Sir!
- Q. What time did you leave home?
- A. I left home after 12:30 am (sic)! Sir!
- Q. Is there anything else you want to tell me?
- A. The night before I had to get a guy to pull my car out of the hole at the same apt. complex!
- Q. Is this statement the truth?

- A. Some is the truth, but may be interpreted the wrong way (sic)
- Q. Will you sign your statement?
- A. Yes sir!

(Tr. at 10-14 and Exhibit 2 to Motion Hearing).

1

i

Ł

ξ.

During the Pre-trial Motion Hearing, Roberts testified that there were a few apartments open at the apartment complex, and people were mingling. (Tr. at 50). He did not remember which apartment he had walked the girls to on the night of the alleged burglary. <u>Id.</u>

In addition, Roberts testified that he had been drinking alcohol all day prior to the time he was arrested in this case. (Tr. at 33-34). Both Detective Hall and Detective Traxler testified that Roberts was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs, and nor did either of them smell any odor of alcohol on Roberts at the time of his arrest and questioning. (Tr. at 15, 21, 29). However, Roberts testified that not only had he been drinking all day prior to his arrest but he had a cup of alcohol in his hand when he was stopped by Detective Hall, when leaving the apartment complex. (Tr. at 34). Roberts further testified that Detective Traxler told him that he could smell alcohol coming through Roberts' pores at the time of his interrogation and written statement. (Tr. at 36). Although Detective Traxler testified that Roberts' handwriting appeared to be normal in Roberts' written statement, the above-cited statement clearly shows otherwise. (Tr. at 21).

Roberts testified that Detective Traxler threatened to charge him with burglary if he did not cooperate and give a statement. (Tr. at 35). Detective Traxler also called Roberts a couple of names and told Roberts he was stupid for his behavior. <u>Id.</u> When asked whether the interrogation had been recorded, Detective Traxler admitted that it had not been, although the interrogation room had video and audio capabilities. (Tr. at 208). Prior to trial, Roberts' defense counsel moved to suppress both

the statements given to Detective Hall and Detective Traxler due to <u>Miranda</u> violations, intoxication, undue influence and inducement, but those Motions were denied by the Trial Court. (R. at 26-30, Tr. at 61-62).

There was no evidence of tampering or forced entry at either of the doors of the apartment in question. (Tr. at 23). There were also no pry marks that could be compared to a tool or any other device. <u>Id.</u> In addition, there were no fingerprints lifted from the apartment's doors. (Tr. at 171). Moreover, nothing whatsoever was stolen from the apartment. (Tr. at 139).

Roberts underwent treatment and evaluation for paranoid schizophrenia in 1999 and 2000. (Tr. at 264). However, the relevant medical records and mention of this mental illness were not presented to the lower Court until the sentencing phase of Robert's trial in this matter. (Tr. at 257-264). At that time, Robert's defense counsel requested that the Court defer sentencing to allow Roberts to receive treatment through the State or at least to have a pre-sentence investigation. (Tr. at 261). Just one day prior to sentencing, defense counsel further stated that Roberts' mental health records would not have been appropriate for a <u>McNaughten</u> defense. Although defense counsel made this statement, counsel did not retrieve and review Roberts' medical records until the morning of the sentencing. (Tr. at 258, 261). After retrieving and reviewing those medical records, the records revealed that Roberts, without his medications, has delusions of grandeur. (Tr. at 261). Roberts has auditory hallucinations, which he believes those voices speak to him and help him and keep him from making mistakes. <u>Id.</u> Roberts is paranoid. <u>Id.</u>

Roberts did not testify at the Trial of this case, and nor did he call any witnesses to testify on his behalf. (Tr. at 219). During the State's closing argument, one of the prosecutors made a statement that Roberts did not call or subpoena witnesses on his behalf, because "they don't want the answer." (Tr. at 248). Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, which was denied by the Court. <u>Id.</u>

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in denying both the statements given to Detective Michael Hall and Detective Jon Douglas Traxler, as the statements were in violation of <u>Miranda</u>.

In addition, the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's Motion for Mistrial, as one of the prosecutors commented on the Appellant's failure to testify at the Trial of this case, and the statements were inflammatory, highly prejudicial and reasonably calculated to unduly influence the jury.

The Trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial. In viewing the evidence presented by the State in a light most favorable to the State, the State failed to establish a prima facie case for the crime of burglary against the Appellant.

Further, the Appellant was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel at Trial. The Appellant underwent treatment and evaluation for paranoid schizophrenia in 1999 and 2000, but his defense counsel made no attempt whatsoever to investigate the issue of Appellant's mental illness until the sentencing phase of Trial. Therefore, the issue of Appellant's mental illness was never presented to the jury, and Appellant was convicted for the crime of residential burglary, in which intent is an essential element for conviction.

Moreover, cumulative errors deprived the Appellant of his constitutional right to a fair Trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS.

"If a person **in custody** is to be subjected to interrogation, he must be informed in clear and unequivocal terms that he has the right to remain silent." <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 467468 (1966)(emphasis added). A defendant may waive effectuation of right to counsel and to remain silent, provided that the waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently. <u>Id.</u> at 444. "In order to permit a suspect in custody to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of rights during interrogation, an explanation of those rights must first be given. <u>Luckett v. State</u>, 797 So.2d 339, 345 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)(citing <u>Miranda</u>, 384 U.S. at 444-45). Where the interrogation is part of the "general on the scene investigation," <u>Miranda</u> warnings are not a prerequisite to the admissibility of defendant's statements. <u>Luckett</u>, 797 So.2d at 345 (citing <u>Tolbert v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 1368, 1375 (Miss. 1987)).

However, once in custody, a confession is only admissible after the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused's confession was voluntary by showing that such confession was not the product of promises, threats or inducements. <u>Glasper v. State</u>, 914 So.2d 708, 717 (Miss. 2005)(citing <u>Manix v. State</u>, 895 So.2d 167, 180 (Miss. 2005); <u>Miranda</u>, 384 U.S. at 444-45; <u>Dancer v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 583, 587 (Miss. 1998); <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 681 So.2d 82, 86 (Miss. 1996); <u>Chase v.</u> <u>State</u>, 645 So.2d 829, 838-39 (Miss. 1994)).

First, in the case *sub judice*, Roberts' statement to Detective Hall should have been suppressed by the Trial Court. Roberts had been taken into custody by Detective Hall, as Detective Hall found Roberts to be the suspect described at the scene of the alleged burglary. (Tr. at 26-27). As Roberts at that time had been deemed a suspect and placed into custody in Detective Hall's patrol car, the police clearly intended to subject him to interrogation. However, no <u>Miranda</u> warnings were read to Roberts until after Roberts started speaking about his presence in an apartment at the complex in question. (Tr. at 27). Detective Hall had already performed general on the scene questioning when he initially approached Roberts. (Tr. at 26-27). Once in custody, Roberts' <u>Miranda</u> warnings should have been read to him to allow him full notice of his rights and the

٤

ì

opportunity to make a knowing and intelligent decision as to whether to make any statement to Detective Hall about Roberts' presence at the apartment complex. Detective Hall admitted that Roberts was in custody when the statements were made, and no <u>Miranda</u> rights had been given until after the statements were made. (Tr. at 32). Again, as Roberts at that time had been deemed a suspect and placed into custody in Detective Hall's patrol car, the police clearly intended to subject him to interrogation, and yet, Roberts' <u>Miranda</u> rights were not timely given to him.

Second, Roberts' statement to Detective Traxler should have also been suppressed by the Trial Court. Neither of the statements made to Detective Hall nor to Detective Traxler were knowingly and voluntarily given as Roberts was under the influence of alcohol at the time of his arrest and interrogation. During the Pre-trial Motion Hearing, Roberts testified that he had been drinking alcohol all day prior to the time he was arrested in this case. (Tr. at 33-34). Roberts further testified that not only had he been drinking prior to his arrest but he had a cup of alcohol in his hand when he was stopped by Detective Hall, when leaving the apartment complex. (Tr. at 34). In addition, Detective Traxler told Roberts that he could smell alcohol coming through Roberts' pores at the time of his interrogation and written statement. (Tr. at 36). Moreover, it is clear from Robert's written statement given to Detective Traxler that his state was not normal. Several simple words were chopped and misspelled. There were also several incomplete phrases and exclamation marks used quite consistently. (Tr. at 10-14 and Exhibit 2 to Motion Hearing). It must be noted that this is a statement that was given by a college student. (Tr. at 5).

.

1.

ŧ.

Roberts was clearly under the influence of alcohol at the time of the statements given to Detective Hall and Detective Traxler. Roberts was not capable of comprehending the gravity of the situation, nor was he able to understand his rights, and was vulnerable to undue influence and inducement. Also, the statements to Detective Traxler and interrogation were not recorded to provide any evidence contrary to Roberts' testimony. Detective Traxler admitted that the interrogation room had video and audio capabilities. (Tr. at 208). Furthermore, the Waiver of Rights signed by Roberts was not witnessed by anyone other than Detective Traxler.

Third, Roberts' statements to Detective Traxler should have been suppressed by the Trial Court as the statements were the products of promises, threats and inducement. Roberts testified that Detective Traxler threatened to charge him with burglary if he did not cooperate and give a statement. (Tr. at 35). Detective Traxler also called Roberts a couple of names and told Roberts he was stupid for his behavior. <u>Id.</u> It is important to again note that the interrogation had not been recorded, although the interrogation room had video and audio capabilities. (Tr. at 208). As such, Roberts' statements to Detective Traxler were not freely and voluntarily given as required by <u>Miranda</u>.

The statements given to Detective Hall and Detective Traxler were in violation of <u>Miranda</u>, and for the above and foregoing reasons, the Appellant, Eric Roberts, respectfully requests that this Court reverse this case.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO TESTIFY.

"The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to lawyer misconduct during opening statements or closing arguments is whether the natural and probable effect of the improper argument is to create unjust prejudice against the accused so as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created." <u>Forkner v. State</u>, 902 So.2d 615, 622 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)(citing <u>Sheppard v. State</u>, 777 So.2d 659, 661 (Miss. 2000)).

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