**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**ERIC LAVON ROBERTS**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**NO. 2008-KA-1707-COA**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

##

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress a statement of defendant made prior to his being *Mirandized*.**

Statements made by defendant were no in response to any interrogation and/or made at his own peril after being *Mirandized*.

### Issue II.

**Comment by the prosecutor that "*They can subpoena any witness that we have here. They can subpoena them and have them here. They don't want the answer*" – is not a comment on defendant's right to remain silent.**

The prosecutor's comment was in response to defense closing and comment on the lack of evidence offered by the defense to rebut evidence presented by the State.

### Issue III.

**There was ample evidence presented *at trial* for the court to deny the motions for judgement notwithstanding the verdict and new trial.**

The State provided testimonial evidence and exhibits for defendant being inside a dwelling, uninvited, at night. Further, criminal intent may be presumed for those circumstances. Defendant offered no evidence in rebuttal to that presumption.

### IV.

**Defendant had Constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.**

A diagnosis of mental illness alone is not enough to raise an insanity defense and will not support ineffective assistance of counsel.

### V.

**There were no errors at trial cumulative or singly that denied defendant of a fundamentally fair trial.**

No error singly or cumulatively denied defendant of a fair trial.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress a statement of defendant made prior to his being *Mirandized*.**

In this initial allegation of error appellate counsel argues the trial court erred by not suppressing a statement or statements defendant made to law enforcement before he was *Mirandized*.

Looking to the record a pre-trial suppression hearing was held. Tr.2-62. Here is apparently what transpired: Law enforcement was called about a burglary in progress. Officers quickly converged on the scene and defendant was picked up and, detained and transported to headquarters to be interviewed by a detective. Defendant apparently, in response to an officers question "Where were you headed?" gave incriminating statements. The officer immediately, verbally gave defendant *Miranda* warnings. Defendant kept making statements after receiving the warning(s).

The reviewing Courts of Mississippi have heard this argument under similar factual situations:

¶ 11. Wilson's argument that he was subjected to custodial interrogation without proper *Miranda* warnings is also without merit. To be subject to custodial interrogation, one must be both in custody and undergoing interrogation. A subject is in custody when their right to freely leave has been restricted. *Roberts v. State*, 301 So.2d 859, 861 (Miss.1974). The accused is subject to interrogation when he is questioned by the police or the functional equivalent. *Pierre v. State*, 607 So.2d 43, 52 (Miss.1992). The functional equivalent is any sort of activity which the police reasonably believe would produce an incriminating response. *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301,

100 S.Ct. 1682, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980).

¶ 12. It is clear that Wilson was in custody when he confessed; however, his confessions were not the product of interrogation. The police did not question Wilson until after he was given his *Miranda* warnings. The statements he made while being arrested, transported to the hospital, and receiving medical treatment were not prompted by police activities; rather, were the product of his own free will. The police did everything in their power to appraise Wilson of his rights. They even went so far as to shout at him, interrupting one of his confessions, to inform him of his rights. We conclude the use of these statements did not violate Wilson's rights.

*Wilson v. State*, 936 So.2d 357 (Miss. 2006).

So, it is the position of the State that looking at the transcript of the pre-trial testimony of the officer, defendant gave a non-responsive answer to a question of the officer. While such a statement might be incriminating it was not part of an interrogation. Additionally, even after being *Mirandized* defendant kept making, essentially, the same statement and even put it down in writing. (St. Ex. 28).

Further, looking to the record it is also clear that defendant himself, even at the pre-trial hearing, (Tr. 54). claimed he knew his rights (as he said, he'd been arrested a 'couple' of times before).

The trial court made his ruling and there is ample credible testimony in the record to support his finding. Accordingly, no relief should be granted on this first allegation of trial court error.

## Issue II.

**Comment by the prosecutor that "*They can subpoena any witness that we have here. They can subpoena them and have them here. They don't want the answer*" – is not a comment on defendant's right to remain silent.**

While it is true that trial counsel for defendant did present a 'defense' in that he was prepared for trial, filed pre-trial motions, cross-examined witnesses and made objections – there was no evidence or testimony presented in their case-in-chief at trial.

The State then presented its initial closing argument. Defense then argued in closing that the State's police work was sloppy and the police should have interviewed more witnesses and done a better investigation.

Then, in the State's final closing, in response to defense arguments, the prosecutor stated – "They can subpoena any witness that we have here. They can subpoena them and have them here. They don't want the answer." Tr. 248.

Defense made a timely objection to the argument of the prosecutor, which was overruled by the trial court. Tr. 249.

It is the succinct position of the State the statement made was a comment on the lack of evidence presented by the defense. Such was not and is not a comment on defendant's right to remain silent. The trial court hearing the closing overruled the objection.

¶ 16. In this case, the prosecutor was asserting that all of the State's evidence was unrefuted. He did not single out any particular witnesses' testimony that only Epps could rebut. Thus, we conclude that, like the prosecutor in Weathersby, this prosecutor was not trying to stress by innuendo the fact that Epps elected not to testify. In fact, the defense could have refuted the

prosecution's evidence with a ballistics expert or an alibi witness. See *Logan v. State*, 773 So.2d 338, 349 (¶¶ 41-42) (Miss.2000) (describing various types of rebuttal witnesses a criminal defendant can use). Therefore, we find no error.

*Epps v. State*, 984 So.2d 1042 (Miss.App. 2008).

The State was arguing that defendant could have called (using the power of the subpoena) witnesses to refute the State's evidence or produce an alibi witness.

There being no error in the ruling of the trial court no relief should be granted on this claim of error.

### **Issue III.**

**There was ample evidence presented *at trial* for the court to deny the motions for judgement notwithstanding the verdict and new trial.**

Within this allegation of error counsel claims lack of evidence supporting the elements of burglary. Interestingly, counsel cites this court to numerous pages of the transcript, specifically pages 9-14, 23, 33-34 & 36. However, all those pages were pre-trial and no jury was present.

At trial, the State did present evidence that defendant was in the apartment of these girls. Tr. 121-22. There was the in-court identification of defendant. Tr. 123. Venue was established. Tr. 132, 180. And that defendant wasn't supposed to be there and there was the sound him plundering around in the apartment and opening and closing of doors. Tr. 162-63.

There was testimony that defendant could have gotten in through a sliding door, but went out the front door. There was testimony of an officer that defendant had himself stated he was in the girls room and left locking and closing the door behind him. Tr. 176, 195.

Now, defendant argues there was no proof his intent to commit a crime.

¶ 5. Since those committing burglary usually have no occasion to announce their intentions, evidence of the required intent usually arises only from inferences:

Some presumptions are to be indulged in against one who enters a building unbidden at a late hour of night, else the burglar

caught without booty might escape the penalties of the law. People are not accustomed in the nighttime to enter homes of others, when asleep, with innocent purposes. The usual object is theft; and this is the inference ordinarily to be drawn in the absence of explanation from breaking and entering at night accompanied by flight when discovered, even though nothing has been taken.

*Brown v. State*, 799 So.2d 870, 872 (Miss.2001) (quoting *Nichols v. State*, 207 Miss. 291, 296-97, 42 So.2d 201, 202-03 (1949)).

¶ 6. Therefore, an inference of the intent to steal may arise from proof of the breaking and entering. *Gillum v. State*, 468 So.2d 856, 859 (Miss.1985). Crawford is permitted to counter this evidence which arises from an inference, just as he may counter other kinds of evidence presented to prove his guilt. The State met its burden of presenting evidence on each element of burglary.

*Crawford v. State*, 839 So.2d 594 (Miss.App. 2003).

It is the position of the State that enough evidence was presented at trial, – direct evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom to support the jury verdict. Further the intent may be presumed from the circumstances. Defendant offered no evidence to overcome that presumption of criminal intent after being found in an apartment at night.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

#### IV.

#### **Defendant had Constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.**

Here defendant claims ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to, apparently, raising a *M'Naghten* insanity defense.

It is clear that trial counsel was aware of defendant's prior mental history. It is also clear that trial counsel deemed it to be insufficient to raise a *M'Naghten* defense. Tr. 258 & 262.

It is the position of the State that a mere diagnosis (some seven years earlier) is insufficient to raise an insanity defense. The trial attorney, in his reasonable and professional judgment reasonable believed that such mental condition did not excuse the crime.

¶ 27. It is apparent from the above testimony that Epps suffered no prejudice because of his attorneys' actions. He could not fulfill the requirements of *M'Naghten* because he understood the consequences of his actions when he shot Eubanks. He admitted to Detective Daniels that he shot Eubanks once or twice because Eubanks was "messing with his mother's mind." We find this statement to be similar to the incriminating statement made by the defendant in Groseclose. Thus, Epps knew the consequences of his actions. Also like the defendant in Tyler, Epps understood the difference between right and wrong because he knew that shooting Eubanks would upset his mother, and he hid the gun as he was fleeing Eubanks's house. Further, Epps made the conscious decision to turn himself into the police. Therefore, this Court can only conclude that Epps knew that he committed a crime. We do not deny that Epps may suffer from some mental illness. However, *M'Naghten* requires more than a mere diagnosis of mental illness. From the above testimony and evidence, this Court can only conclude that Epps "did not come close to being so mentally deficient as to lack an appreciation of the consequences of his action." McLaughlin, 789 So.2d at 115(¶ 9). After reviewing the record, we

are not convinced that Epps would have succeeded if he had properly asserted the insanity defense. Therefore, his attorneys' actions did not prejudice his defense, and Epps cannot fulfill the requirements of *Strickland*. Thus, we find this issue is without merit.

Epps v. State 984 So.2d 1042, 1049 -1050 (Miss.App.,2008)

There being no deficient performance on the part of defendant's trial counsel there can be no ineffective assistance of counsel. Defendant had presumptively Constitutionally effective assistance of counsel and no relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

V.

**There were no errors at trial cumulative or singly that denied defendant of a fundamentally fair trial.**

It is the position of the State the errors raised on appeal were not supported by the facts in the record or the law as applied. While the State cannot argue the trial was ‘flawless’ (few, if any would be), the conduct of counsel, the trial process and the rulings of the court – singly or collectively do not put in doubt the jury verdict.

¶ 27. . . . It is true that “multiple, individual errors, not reversible in themselves, may have the cumulative effect of denying the defendant a fair and impartial trial, thus warranting a reversal.” *Hall v. State*, 906 So.2d 34, 39(¶ 19) (Miss.Ct.App.2004). However, this is not the situation in Commodore's case. Careful review of the alleged errors show that they are either not factually substantiated through the trial record or were strategic decisions made by defense counsel. Any errors that were made were reasonable, and if any unreasonable errors were made, they were not sufficient enough to change the outcome of the trial. Thus, Commodore does not satisfy either prong of the Strickland test. This issue is without merit.

*Commodore v. State*, 994 So.2d 864 (Miss.App. 2008).

The State would ask this reviewing court to deny any relief based upon the cumulative error assertion.